KENT FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent Flood Risk Management Committee held in the Council Chamber - Sessions House on Monday, 16 July 2018.

PRESENT: Mr A R Hills (Chairman), Mrs C Bell, Mr A H T Bowles, Ida Linfield (Substitute for Mr I S Chittenden), Mr H Rayner (Substitute for Mr K Pugh), Mrs R Doyle (Canterbury CC), Mr L Laws, Mr G Lewin (Swale BC), Mr H Rogers, Mrs C Mackonochie (Tunbridge Wells BC), Mrs G Brown (KALC) and Mr C Mackonochie (KALC)

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Tant (Flood Risk Manager), Mr T Harwood (Resilience and Emergency Planning Manager) and Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

6. Minutes of the meeting on 5 March 2018 *(Item 3)*

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2018 are correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.

7. Presentation by Mark Rogers from the Met Office (Civil Contingencies) on the Met Office early severe weather warning, climate trends and their implications for flood risk (*ltem 4*)

(1) Mark Rogers from the Met Office gave a presentation. The accompanying slides are contained within the electronic agenda papers on the KCC website.

(2) Mr Rogers introduced himself as the Met Office Advisor for Civil Contingencies. He worked with Category 1 and 2 Responders as defined by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 in South East England (Kent Sussex, Surrey, Hampshire, Isle of Wight and Thames Valley).

(3) Mr Rogers said that the National Severe Weather Warning Service (NSWWS) had been set up in 1988 after the hurricane of the previous year. Its original form had been as a threshold-based service. Warnings were issued when severe weather was expected with winds speedsreaching 70 mph or 30 mm of rainfall were anticipated. This approach had ignored the wider impact of severe weather. Its weakness therefore was that there was no policy differentiation between a 70 mph wind speed in Scotland and South East of England despite the greater impact.

(4) In 2011, following a period of consultation with Emergency Responders, the NSWWS had developed an impact-based approach where the decision on whether

to issue Warnings was based on the likely dangers and disruptions caused. The UK was currently the only country in the World operating this system, although a number of countries were now considering doing so after receiving training from the Met Office.

(5) Mr Rogers said that the Met Office had issued Warnings for rain, wind, snow, ice and fog since the formation of the NSWWS. Recently, they had added lightning and thunderstorms. Warnings could now be given seven days ahead of the event. Warnings for thunderstorms had previously been given under the "rain" heading. By specifically warning of likely thunderstorms, the Met Office could now incorporate rain, hail, lightning and strong winds. Warnings for lightning were also particularly important because of its impact on railways and power supplies.

(6) Mr Rogers continued by saying that an Impact Matrix had been introduced in 2011 to complement the new impact-based Warning system. This enabled an accurate assessment by setting the likelihood of an impact occurring against the level This enabled the allocation of a colour to the Warning (green of impact expected. yellow, amber or red). The colour was, however, not all-important. For example, if the box ticked indicated a high likelihood of a low impact event, it required different planning and response to a very low likelihood of a high impact, which would indicate potential danger to life, although a forecast was not at that stage suggesting that it was imminent. Were it to become so, the risk could easily be upgraded to amber. An example of this had occurred during the St Jude's Day storm in October 2013. The Warning had initially been given when the likelihood had been very low. The Warning had then moved up to "low" and "medium" likelihood of a high impact event.

(7) Mr Rogers went on to show examples of how Warnings were issued. They were placed on the Met Office website and on the Met Office App, which enabled people to sign up to receive them. They were usually issued in pdf form and explained the nature of the event, its likelihood and potential impact as well as the area covered by the Warning, its duration as well as giving headlines on what could be expected and displaying the matrix.

(8) Mr Rogers moved on to explain how uncertainty was dealt with. The Chief Forecaster, based in Essex, monitored model information gathered not only in the UK but also that from other countries such as France, Germany, Japan and USA. If all the models were giving similar outputs, it would indicate a high level of certainty. If, on the other hand, they were producing varying results, the level of certainty would be low. Usually, but not always, the models would show more harmony as the event drew closer.

(9) Mr Rogers then gave an example. He showed a model which indicated a track of low pressure across central Southern England with the strongest winds occurring in the South East. If this were the only model, the Met Office would issue a Warning for the medium likelihood of a medium impact event in that part of the country. However, a second model was indicating a track further northwest across Wales with the strongest winds across western and into northern England. The Met Office would deal with the conflicting models by increasing the size of the area covered by the Warning whilst reducing the likelihood of the event to "low."

(10) Mr Rogers said that another significant part of the NSWWS' role was assessing the risk. This involved identifying the location (rural, urban or coastal),

considering the current conditions, including whether there had already been a lot of rain in the location, whether there was capacity in the reservoirs and rivers to cope with the event or whether the ground was so hard after several weeks without moisture that heavy rain would run off and increase the risk of flooding. Another consideration was the time of year. The impact of heavy rain in the Autumn would lead to greater problems in that the drains and rivers were likely to be blocked by falling leaves. Strong winds in the Summer were more serious than in the Winter because trees were in leaf and vulnerable camp sites, caravan and mobile home parks were more likely to be populated. The time of day was also very important as the impact would be greater during busy periods for travel.

(11) Mr Rogers turned to the Flood Guidance Statement which was created by the Flood Forecasting Centre, set up in 2009 as a result of the Pitt recommendations. The Flood Forecasting Centre was a joint unit involving the Met Office and the Environment Agency. Its purpose was to forecast the risk of flooding over the next five days (covering river, surface water, groundwater and coastal flooding). It issued the Flood Guidance Statement on a daily basis, using the colours green, yellow, amber and red and setting out whether the risk was decreasing, steady or increasing. It also gave a run down and identified areas of concern.

Mr Rogers moved on to the topic of Climate Change. This was analysed (12) through numerous computer models, using different information, which were sorted by the main computer in Exeter before being grouped together. The top and bottom 10% probabilities differed markedly from the rest. Mr Rogers showed the UK Climate Projections which had been completed in 2009. The latest version for 2018 was still at the verification stage and would be ready by the end of the year. Three different projections had been produced. One of these envisaged a lower emissions scenario, a medium emissions scenario and a high emissions scenario. These had been produced for 2020, 2050 and 2080. Mr Rogers showed the medium emissions scenario for summer rainfall which, at worst, was projected by most computers to drop by 20 to 30%, whereas the top 10% predicted a rise in rainfall of 10%. For winter precipitation, the bottom 10% of the computers predicted an increase of 10% whereas the top 10% predicted a rise of 30 to 40%. Although the evidence was complex, the likelihood was that by 2050 rainfall would reduce considerably in the summer and rise significantly in the winter - if the medium emissions projections (which were themselves considered to be a conservative estimate) proved to be correct.

(13) Mr Rogers summarised the summer convection findings at the Met Office Hadley Centre by saying that although summers were likely to become drier by 2100, rainfall would be heavier and in short outbreaks, potentially causing more occurrences of serious flash flooding. This was because the warmer summers in the UK became, the more water would be held in the warm air and storms more violent.

(14) Mr Rogers said that the Met Office had published innovative research in 2017. This had found that in England and Wales there was a 1 in 3 chance of a new monthly rainfall record in at least one region each winter. Met Office records showed that since 1910 there had been 17 record breaking rainfall months or seasons and that 9 of these had occurred since 2000.

(15) Mr Rogers summarised the climate change section of his presentation by saying that its impacts on rainfall were complex and uncertain. There was a greater

risk of surface water flooding as a result of more intense summer rainfall. There was also likely to be an increase in winter rainfall which would lead to a greater risk of river and groundwater flooding. A risk management approach was needed due to the continuing uncertainty.

(16) Mr Bowles said that recent heavy surface water flooding had led to houses being evacuated in 4 of the 23 villages in his Swale division. This was because water on the scarp of the Downs had run off the fields very quickly whilst the roads towards the North Kent Coastal Plain had taken on the form of rivers and the drains were unable to cope. The ability to ensure that the drains were unblocked was well below satisfactory. If serious action was not taken to maintain and clear the drains, there would be severe flooding every time there was heavy rain (which Mr Rogers had predicted would become a more regular occurrence in the future). There was a risk that the County Council would be failing in its duty if it did not increase its efforts to clean out drains and gullies.

(17) The Chairman suggested that the concerns expressed by Mr Bowles could be dealt with by reference to the Environment, Transport and Waste Cabinet Committee in the light of the expert advice given during the presentation.

(18) Mr Rogers replied to a question from the Chairman on the joint working between the Met Office and the Environment Agency. He said that for short term work such as the Flood Forecasting Centre, the Met Office's main role was to forecast the weather whilst the Environment Agency would use its computerised information about local conditions to identify the areas at risk of flooding and the likely impact upon them. This enabled the daily Flood Guidance Statement to be as accurate as possible. In respect of the long-term effects of Climate Change, the Met Office provided the Environment Agency with its modelling of future rainfall, and the Agency then carried out its own modelling around the information provided.

(19) Mrs Brown said that KALC had been told that only those areas at most risk of severe flooding would experience an annual clearance of its gullies and that everywhere else would just be reactive. In Yalding, there was a gully that had been blocked for three years. The clearing work was described on the portal as having been completed, even though this was not the case. When this was queried, it had been explained that the term "clearance" simply meant that it the work had been allocated. The system was not working because three months after the notified clearance had taken place, the gully was still blocked and no effort had been made to unblock it. She suggested that the question of the upkeep of the portal was one which could be covered at the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee.

(20) Mr Rayner asked about tidal flooding. He referred to the February 1953 tidal flooding event where high spring tides had been effectively forced into the North Sea by low pressure before impacting South East England and the Low Countries. Mr Rogers replied that the Met Office undertook tidal forecasts which took into account winds and pressure levels. This information was sent to the Environment Agency who used it to carry out the flooding forecast for the East Coast.

(21) Mrs Doyle asked about the level of international agreement on climate change modelling. Mr Rogers replied that every country was a member of the World Meteorological Organisation which shared modelling and forecasts. Most countries were also member of the International Panel on Climate Change whose scientists

considered all the modelling in order to develop an international view. There was consequently a general convergence of views, although some scientists did take a different view.

(22) Mr Lewin asked how the data prepared was used by the Insurance Industry. Mr Rogers said that he was aware that Insurance Companies used Met Office projections when considering level of risk.

(23) Mr Rogers replied to a question from Mr Howard Rogers on extremely high temperatures by saying that in addition to the normal forecasting, there was also a Heat Health Watch Service, which was a Public Health / NHS product run by the Met Office. It issued alerts when the temperature was due to reach 30+ degrees. Similar modelling and graphs were produced for temperatures as for rainfall. These indicated that temperatures were likely to rise to the point where monthly temperature records were set ever more frequently.

- (24) RESOLVED that:-
 - (a) Mr Mark Rogers be thanked for his valuable presentation;
 - (b) Mr Rogers be invited to give a further presentation to the Committee in 2019 once the revised UK Climate Projections have been published; and
 - (c) the Committee's concerns on drainage be referred to the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee in the light of the expert advice received from the Met Office during Mr Rogers' presentation.

8. **Presentation by the Environment Agency on future flood risks to Kent** *(Item 5)*

(1) (1) Simon Curd from the Environment Agency gave a presentation. The accompanying slides are contained within the electronic agenda papers on the KCC website.

(2) Mr Curd said that his presentation was an update on flood risk rather than an assessment of future flood risk. He said that there were currently some 85.5k homes and businesses in Kent at risk of flooding from rivers and the sea. These figures did not take account of the presence of flood defences. There are currently over 9,700 flood risk assets in Kent, including defences, structures, pumping stations and culverts, which benefit 40,000 homes and businesses.

(3) Mr Curd said that Kent had been allocated the third highest amount (£189m over the next five years) in grants to deliver capital projects to reduce flood risk in England (behind Yorkshire and Lincolnshire). Over 60% of this figure came from Flood Defence Grant (FDGiA). Kent was a big winner for investment in Flood and Coastal Risk Erosion Management (FCRM) capital projects. The Environment Agency is a significant infrastructure provider, protecting critical infrastructure and preventing millions of pounds worth of flood damage across the county. These projects were expected to reduce flood risk and coastal erosion to more than 27,000 homes. Under the government's partnership funding rules, however, many of these

projects require external contributions to go ahead. Without these contributions, the allocated government funding would be redistributed across the country. In terms of outcome measurements, Mr Curd said these were predominantly evaluated in terms of homes protected.

(4) Mr Curd continued by considering some of the bigger schemes in Kent. The Great Stour Flood Alleviation Scheme was currently in its early stages of development. The Environment Agency was working in Partnership with KCC and Canterbury CC to reduce the risk of flooding from the Great Stour to communities between Ashford and Fordwich, including Canterbury. This would enable the protection of nearly 500 properties and 90 businesses. The scheme had a good cost benefit ratio but would still require a further £2.7m in partnership funding.

(5) Mr Curd went on to say that most of the schemes associated with the Folkestone to Cliff End Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy had now been completed. The Lydd Ranges Scheme was the last one that needed to be completed. Although there had been some problems and discussions in respect of this scheme, it was anticipated that a planning application would be submitted very shortly.

(6) Mr Curd said that the Middle Medway Flood Resilience Scheme had been developed in response to numerous flooding incidents, culminating in the floods of 2013/14. It was installing Property Flood Resilience (PFR) measures to protect a number of houses. Phase 1 had seen the installation of PFR measures to 28 properties. Another 281 properties had been offered the full survey in early 2018, 247 of which had taken up the offer and were having the measures installed. The latest phase would see the scoping taking place for those properties that were unsuitable for PFR. It might be possible to build small walls around the properties or to take other measures in partnership with KCC Highways.

(7) Mr Curd described Mill Farm Natural Flood Management on the River Beult as a project managed by KCC to provide a natural water storage area beneficial to the Beult catchment and biodiversity.

(8) Mr Curd said that the Leigh Expansion and Hildenborough Embankment Scheme was in effect two projects that had to take place simultaneously in order to avoid any negative flooding impact. The Leigh Expansion project would increase capacity and reduce risk to some 1500 properties by increasing storage levels in the Leigh Flood Storage Area from 5.5m m³ to 9m m³. The Hildenborough scheme would bring benefit to the low level residential areas of Hildenborough by preventing water from the River Medway reaching beyond its banks. This was another partnership project involving KCC and Tonbridge and Malling BC which been supported by a bid to the South East Local Enterprise Partnership.

(9) Mr Curd asked the Committee to note that this project would not only protect homes but also businesses and create growth and business benefits. As a consequence a bid was made for a contribution from the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) Local Growth Fund to provide some of the partnership funding.

(10) Mr Curd said that the Medway Flood Partnership had been created at the end of 2017. It brought together the wide variety of organisations that undertake flood risk

management work in the catchment to coordinate their work. By working so closely together, the partners were able to ensure that they avoided duplication or adversely affecting others' work. An example of this was that all the maintenance plans had been pulled together so that everyone could see all the work that needed to be done and which of the partners was responsible for it.

(11) Mr Curd summarised the main points of his presentation by saying that Kent was a big winner for government investment on capital projects; partnership funding was needed to unlock government funding for FDCRM projects; partnership was key to success and innovation; and that incorporating Natural Flood Management into schemes could help to deliver more and wider benefits. Before concluding, Mr Curd made comments about future flood risk. Surface water would be one of the greater and increasing risks.

(12) Finally, he asked the Committee to give its support to the schemes whilst impressing the importance of this work upon their constituents and areas not just in terms of property protection, but also because of their wider benefits for growth and natural habitats.

(13) Mr Rayner asked whether a decision had yet been made as to where the barrier for the Hildenborough scheme was to be located. Mr Curd replied that the Environment Agency had some idea where the embankment was to be sited. The original intention had been to place it in the school grounds. There was still some design work to be completed and discussions had not yet been held with the intended landowners. He was therefore not able to inform the Committee of its exact location. The embankment did not need to be as high or as long as originally thought. He added that there would be a drop-in session in Hildenborough during November.

(14) Mrs Doyle said that one of the problems in the Canterbury City Council administrative area were the bournes (seasonal rivers) which could cause serious flooding. On the last occasion that this had occurred, some of the residents had hired diggers and diverted the water away from their own land. She asked whether the Environment Agency agreed with such unilateral action. Mr Curd replied that it was the riparian landowner who had responsibility to take water and pass it on. He did not agree with people taking matters into their own hands by taking diggers to ditches. This could have significant and unforeseen knock-on effects.

Mr Howard Rogers said that when the Leigh Barrier project had started life, it (15)had not only included Leigh and Hildenborough, but also some embankment work in East Peckham to protect the industrial estate. As costs had begun to escalate, the work around East Peckham had been reduced in scope. Mr Curd replied that the Leigh and East Peckham projects had always been completely separate. The SELEP bid had been put together by Tonbridge and Malling BC to include East Peckham, Leigh and Hildenborough. It had been done that way to enable the project's potential for economic growth to be demonstrated. The cost of the East Peckham project had been high, resulting in a significant funding gap. Although some firms in the industrial estate had been prepared to part fund work in a small part of it these contributions were not sufficient to fund the whole scheme. The Environment Agency had subsequently considered an alternative scheme to protect some of the residential areas. An outline business case was being developed whilst funding was still being sought. Unfortunately, the change in scope may result in the loss of a proportion of the LEP funding.

(16) Mr Rayner noted the reduced requirement for the height and length of the Hildenborough Bund and said that this would presumably reduce the cost from that originally put forward. He asked whether some of the savings from that scheme could be used in East Peckham. Mr Curd replied that this would not be possible because it was not permissible to transfer money from one scheme to another. He added that, although it was assumed that the eventual cost of the Hildenborough scheme would be less than originally estimated, it was still too early to be certain that this was the case.

(17) The Chairman asked whether the Environment Agency could produce maps that showed sea defences to complement those that did not. Mr Curd agreed that this might be possible as the Environment Agency did possess this information.

(18) RESOLVED that Mr Curd be thanked for his presentation and that the Environment Agency be invited to attend the same meeting as the Met Office in 2019 once the revised UK Climate Projections have been published.

9. Kent and Medway Offsite Reservoir Inundation Emergency Plan (*Item 6*)

(1) Tony Harwood gave a presentation. The accompanying slides are contained within the electronic agenda papers on the KCC website.

(2) Mr Harwood said that much of the agenda for the meeting had focussed on the importance of water storage. His role as an Emergency Plannerwas to ensure effective contingencies in the event of things going wrong. Dams, reservoirs and other water storage facilities being a case in point.

(3) Mr Harwood referred to the regulations and guidance in paragraph 1.2 of the report which dictated the parameters within which such documents as the *Kent and Medway Offsite Reservoir Inundation Emergency Plan* had to be drawn up. There had been some significant dam failures and disasters both internationally and in the UK; the most well-known example being the Banqiao Dam disaster in China in 1975 where 171,000 people had lost their lives and 11m had been made homeless. In the UK, 244 people had lost their lives during the Dale Dike Reservoir disaster in Yorkshire in 1874. More recently, there had been significant dam failures in Laos and North America.

(4) Most countries engaged in very detailed contingency planning for dam failures. In Continental Europe, there were regular emergency drills in those communities that lay down river or in close proximity to dams. Drills also took place in Asia, North America and Africa. This contrasted with the UK where planning tended to assume a lower profile.

(5) Mr Harwood defined a reservoir as a large *raised* water body. This meant that it was conceivable that water could 'fall out' very quickly. There were four main types of reservoirs in Kent. Flood storage areas such as Leigh which can currently hold 5.5m m³ of water, which would expand to 9m m³ once the works there were

completed. Water Utility reservoirs such as Bewl Bridge which could hold 31.4m m³ of water. Amenity and landscape features such as Mote Park Lake in Maidstone which held some 200k m3 of water. It was a reservoir, it was raised and was known technically as a "Cascade" because of its relationship with another upstream reservoir. Maidstone BC has invested £1.3m on its spillway and dam structure in order to assure its continued safety. Another designated reservoir (at Leeds Castle) sat above Mote Park Lake, all within the River Len catchment.

(6) Mr Harwood moved on to consider the types of reservoir event. The worst of these would occur as a result of the complete collapse of a dam wall, usually with very little if any warning. The Emergency Plan needed to set out plans for immediate evacuation in these circumstances and also needed to identify which parts of the transport network would be immediately severed and which parts of the critical infrastructure could be impacted.

(7) Another type of event was a slow onset reservoir emergency. This could arise out of a small leak leading to a gradual loss of water, potentially leading to a riparian fluvial flooding event downstream. In 2013/14 the flood storage facility on the Shaw Stream in Boughton Monchelsea was filled to the brim and began over-topping. Such uncontrolled releases could also lead to scouring, where the water would find the point of least resistance, increase the leak and flow out at an ever-increasing rate. Other types of dam break were "Sunny Day" breaches and "Rainy Day" breaches which gave prominence to the prevailing conditions in which the event occurred. The former tended to suggest a structural failure whilst the latter suggested that the breach might be the result of increased flows entering the reservoir.

(8) Mr Harwood turned to the potential consequences of a reservoir inundation emergency which were deaths or injuries to people, damage to property and the residual flooding which was left behind. To cope with these issues, the Plan had to pre-identify access and egress points as well as muster points for emergency responders.

(9) Mr Harwood then showed a slide identifying the large raised reservoirs with capacity above 25,000 m³ together with the footprint of where and escape of water would go. It did not state the downstream velocity of any such water loss. This information was not in the public realm although it did inform Emergency Planning. The map showed clusters in the Thanet area around "Thanet Earth", in the Mid Kent area focused on the Greensand Ridge also related to agriculture, the flood storage facilities in the Medway catchment area and the upper parts of the Stour.

(10) Mr Harwood said that there was a total of 60 large raised reservoirs which could impact Kent. 44 of these were located within the administrative county of Kent, 6 in the Medway Council area and 10 within neighbouring local authority areas. The lowest capacity of these large raised reservoirs was 24,400 m³. Kent had more such reservoirs than other parts of the South East. The number of reservoirs was growing largely because of changes in agriculture systems, with new technologies such as polytunnels and Cravo greenhouses requiring significant irrigation.

(11) Mr Harwood concluded his presentation by saying that the Reservoir Inundation Emergency Plan informed the KCC Flood Response Plan and the Local Multi-agency Flood Plans. An ambitious multi-agency Emergency Planning exercise named *Exercise Tethys* had taken place in November 2017 to validate the Plan and identify learning points. Further lessons had been learned from real events that had occurred at the Leigh Barrier and the Parkwood Farm Reservoir at Brishing Dam, Boughton Monchelsea. The Kent Resilience Forum regularly discussed reservoir safety issues. The former Pan Kent Flood Group had been re-named the Pan Kent Severe Weather Group to indicate that it now had the remit to deal with issues around drought and high winds, in order to ensure that flooding was not treated as an issue on its own.

(12) Mr Harwood replied to a question from Mrs Mackonochie by saying that the determination of planning applications for large reservoirs had to take full account of the volume of water contained in a large reservoir as defined by the Reservoirs Act 1975. This included detailed seeking advice from the Environment Agency. A high level of awareness was also very important when applications came in for fishponds or farm reservoirs to assess the potential for downstream risk. The role of Planning was also significant whenever a development was proposed downstream of an existing reservoir. Although there were a great number of maps produced by the Environment Agency, the reservoir inundation footprint was not always considered. An example of this had occurred at Turkey Mill close to Mote Park Lake in Maidstone where there had been an application for a pre-school with creche facility, which would have been within the footprint area for a potential dam failure at the Lake. This had been raised by Planners and Elected Members at Maidstone BC leading to the development footprint being moved out of harm's way, whilst the planning conditions also required identification of muster points and drawing-up of evacuation plans.

(13) Mr Tant replied to a question from Mr Howard Rogers by saying that under the terms of the Reservoir Act 1975, the undertaker had to appoint an Inspecting Engineer and a Supervising Engineer in addition to the Design Engineer. The Design Engineer had to issues a design certificate followed at a later stage by a further certificate that the facility was able to operate properly. At this point, an onsite plan was developed, followed by an off-site plan. The reservoir had to be inspected every 10 years and it was the undertaker's responsibility to maintain engineers to inspect it. It was the Inspecting and Supervising Engineers who had the statutory responsibility to ensure its safety. The Environment Agency had enforcement powers and also ensured that all the required inspections were carried out.

(14) Mr Rogers, Mr Tant and Mr Harwood replied to a question from Mrs Bell by explaining that the definition of a reservoir was a water storage facility containing 25,000 m³ of water above ground. The lowest capacity on the map in the Reservoir Inundation Emergency Plan was 24,400 m³.

(15) Mr Rayner asked what regulatory arrangements were in place to deal with landowners who casually created medium sized water storage facilities on their property. Mr Tant replied that there were a number of regulations in place whose appropriateness depended on the particular circumstances. For example, a facility that stored water from a water course would require planning consent. If the landowner was building a reservoir, a Panel Engineer would need to be employed to design it.

(16) Mr Harwood said that there had been a number of occasions where water storage facilities had been excavated without planning permission, leading to prolonged periods of enforcement action and retrospective planning applications.

(17) RESOLVED that the publication of the updated Kent and Medway Offsite Inundation Emergency Plan be noted.

10. Environment Agency and Met Office Alerts and Warnings and KCC flood response activity since the last meeting *(ltem 7)*

(1) Mr Harwood introduced the report. He said that the Spring had been very wet with the Long Term Average of rainfall in Kent during March, April and May 2018 being 153% of the average annual figure for this period. The month of June, however had seen a mere 10% of the average annual figure for that month. July had started with a similar dearth of rainfall.

(2) Mr Harwood continued by saying that the heavy rainfall in the Spring had been particularly beneficial in terms of groundwater and reservoir recharge. However, the summer drought had dried up streams and ponds whilst many crops were shrivelling in the fields and had established conditions for recent grassland and moorland fires.

(3) Mr Harwood then said that there had been a few recent periods of significant heavy localised rainfall that were very difficult to plan for. An example of this had occurred in late May between Sittingbourne and Maidstone where flash floods had brought some very serious impacts for residential areas with serious welfare consequences. At the same time, certain nearby areas had experienced very little rainfall, if any. In early July a Severe Weather Warning had been issued for thunderstorms. Towns such as Maidstone had experienced very little precipitation whereas nearby on the Greensand Ridge in places such as Ulcombe and Platts Heath, huge volumes of water had fallen, the road network had become completely inundated as had a number of properties. This was a very challenging time for local residents and responders alike.

(4) RESOLVED that the current water resources situation and the level of warnings received since the last meeting of the Committee be noted.

11. Other Matters

(Item 8)

(1) The Chairman explained that the County Council was moving towards paperlite committee meetings. Kent County Council Members and Officers were being encouraged to rely on their electronic systems rather than hard copies of the papers. He asked those Members who wished to continue to receive papers in hard copy format to contact the Democratic Services Officer. It was agreed that Members would be contacted before the next meeting as a reminder.

(2) The Chairman also asked Members to let the Democratic Services Officer know if they wished to place an item on the agenda of any meeting.